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  Praise for Black Dahlia Avenger

  “The most haunting murder mystery in Los Angeles County during the twentieth century has finally been solved in the twenty-first century.”

  —L.A. County Head Deputy District Attorney Stephen R. Kay

  “Crime was rampant as musicals in Los Angeles in the postwar years—this is the age of Bugsy Siegel, the founding of Las Vegas, Mickey Cohen and gun battles on Sunset Boulevard . . . and it’s the age of film noir. . . . George Hodel, I think, is fit company for some of noir’s most civilized villains—like Waldo Lydecker in Laura, Harry Lime in The Third Man, or even Noah Cross in Chinatown.”

  —David Thomson, New York Times Book Review

  “[Hodel] has written an intensely readable account. . . . So what’s the final verdict on Black Dahlia Avenger? Its accounts of cover-ups and civic corruption are all too believable, and much of the circumstantial evidence it presents against George Hodel is persuasive. . . . Has Steve Hodel solved the case? I think so.”

  —Jon L. Breen, The Weekly Standard

  “A must-read.”

  —New York Post

  “The book has been described as ‘Hannibal Lecter meets L.A. Confidential meets Chinatown,’ but even that Hollywood characterization doesn’t do it justice. Former Los Angeles police detective Steve Hodel has written one of the most compelling true-crime books of all time.”

  —Seattle Weekly

  “An ex-L.A. cop uncovers a painful answer to the notorious 1947 Black Dahlia slaying. Hodel appears to have solved one of the most sensational murders in the history of Los Angeles.”

  —People

  “[Hodel] makes a strong case that the Black Dahlia was part of a larger series of ritual murders that went on for years. This unsparing, chilling account of the actions of a perfect psychopath grips to the end.”

  —Toronto Globe and Mail

  “Hodel tells the story well and with incredible objectivity. A real-life tale of Dr. Jekyll and Mr. Hyde.”

  —Richmond Times-Dispatch

  “This remarkable book will keep readers riveted from the first page to the very last.”

  —Tucson Citizen

  “In this 2003 case study, Hodel declares the case is solved. He offers irrefutable evidence piled fact upon fact as only the mind of a professional detective can present. Black Dahlia Avenger is packaged as neatly as a court deposition.”

  —St. Augustine Record

  “Black Dahlia Avenger is a fascinating and horrifying tale of 1940s Los Angeles—as Steve Hodel says, a real-life L.A. Confidential.”

  —San Jose Mercury News

  “The story boasts all the glamour and sinister mystique of film noir.”

  —The Daily Telegraph (London)

  “Readers must hang on tightly as Hodel hurtles along on his compelling parallel journeys of discovery—a return to the melodramatic days of old Hollywood and a simultaneous plunge into the dark roots of his own family tree.”

  —London Free Press

  “The best nonfiction book about L.A. crime I have ever read.”

  —Gerald Petievich, author of The Sentinel and To Live and Die in L.A.

  “Los Angeles is a construct of its mythologies good and bad, fact and fiction. The legend of Elizabeth Short is one of the most enduring. Hodel’s investigation is thoroughly and completely convincing. So too is this book. As far as I am concerned, this case is closed.”

  —Michael Connelly, author of the New York Times bestseller The Narrows
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  For the victims, living and dead


  When I despair, I remember that all through history the way of Truth and Love has always won. There have been tyrants and murderers and for a time they can seem invincible, but in the end they always fall. Think of it, always.

  —Mahatma Gandhi
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  Introduction

  FOR ALMOST TWENTY-FOUR years, from 1963 to 1986, I was a police officer, and later a detective-supervisor, with the Los Angeles Police Department, a period generally considered to be LAPD’s “golden years.” I was one of Chief William H. Parker’s “new breed,” part of his “thin blue line.”

  My first years were in uniformed patrol. My initial assignment was to West Los Angeles Division, where as a young and aggressive rookie, I was, as Chief Parker had demanded of all his men, “proactive,” excelling in making felony arrests by stopping “anything that moved” on the early-morning streets and alleys of Los Angeles. Over the next five years, as a street cop, I worked in three divisions: Wilshire, Van Nuys, and finally Hollywood.

  In 1969, I applied for and was accepted into the detective bureau at Hollywood. I was assigned to and worked all of the “tables”: Juvenile, Auto Theft, Sex Crimes, Crimes against Persons, Burglary, and Robbery.

  My ratings within the detective bureau remained “upper ten,” and as the years flew by I was assigned to the more difficult and complex investigations, in charge of coordinating the various task force operations, which in some instances required the supervision and coordination of as many as seventy-five to one hundred field officers and plainclothes detectives in an effort to capture a particularly clever (or lucky) serial rapist or residential cat burglar working the Hollywood Hills.

  Finally, I was selected to work what most detectives consider to be the elite table: Homicide. I did well on written exams and with my top ratings made detective I on the first exam ever given by LAPD in 1970. Several years later I was promoted to detective II, and finally, in 1983, I competed for and was promoted to detective III.

  During my career I conducted thousands of criminal investigations and was personally assigned to over three hundred separate murders. My career solve rate on those homicides was exceptionally high. I was privileged to work with some of the best patrol officers and detectives that LAPD has ever known. We believed in the department and we believed in ourselves. “To Protect and to Serve” was not just a motto, it was our credo. We were Jack Webb’s “Sergeant Joe Friday” and Joseph Wambaugh’s “New Centurions” rolled into one. The blood that pumped through our veins was blue, and in those decades, those “golden years,” we believed in our heart of hearts that LAPD was what the nation and the world thought it to be: “proud, professional, incorruptible, and without question the finest police department in the world.”

  I was a real-life hero, born out of the imagination of Hollywood. When I stepped out of my black-and-white, in uniform with gun drawn, as I cautiously approached the front of a bank on a robbery-in-progress call, the citizens saw me exactly as they knew me from television: tall, trim, and handsome, with spit-shined shoes and a gleaming badge over my left breast. There was no difference between me and my actor-cop counterpart on Jack Webb’s Dragnet or Adam-12. What they saw and what they believed—and what I believed in those early years—were one and the same. Fact and fiction morphed into “faction.” Neither I nor the citizenry could distinguish one from the other.

  When I retired in July of 1986, then chief of police Daryl Gates noted in his letter to me of September 4:

  
    Over twenty-three years with the Department is no small investment, Steve. However, twenty-three years of superb, loyal and diligent service is priceless. Please know that you have my personal thanks for all that you have done over the years and for the many important investigations you directed. As I am reminded daily, the fine reputation that this Department enjoys throughout the world is based totally on the cumulative accomplishments of individuals like you.

  

  During my years with LAPD, many high-profile crimes became legendary investigations within the department, and ultimately household names across the nation. Many of the men I worked with as partners, and some I trained as new detectives, went on to become part of world-renowned cases: the Tate-LaBianca-Manson Family murders; the Robert Kennedy assassination; the Hillside Stranglers; the Skid Row Slasher; the Night Stalker; and, in recent years, perhaps the most high-profile case of all, the O.J. Simpson murder trial.

  Before these “modern” crimes, there were other Los Angeles murders that in their day were equally publicized. Many of them were Hollywood crimes connected with scandals involving early film studios, cases such as the Fatty Arbuckle death investigation, the William Desmond Taylor murder, the Winnie Judd trunk murder, the Bugsy Siegel murder, and the “Red Light Bandit,” Caryl Chessman. But in those dust-covered crime annals and page-worn homicide books of the past, one crime stands out above all others. Los Angeles’s most notorious unsolved murder occurred well over half a century ago, in January 1947. The case was, and remains known as, the Black Dahlia.

  As a rookie cop in the police academy, I had heard of this famous case. Later, as a fledgling detective, I learned that some of LAPD’s top cops had worked on it, including legendary detective Harry Hansen. After he retired, all the “big boys” at downtown Robbery-Homicide took over. Famed LAPD detectives such as Danny Galindo, Pierce Brooks, and old Badge Number 1, John “Jigsaw” St. John, took their “at-bats,” all to no avail. The Black Dahlia murder remained stubbornly unsolved.

  Like most other detectives, I knew little about the facts of the case, already sixteen years cold when I joined the force. Unlike many other “unsolveds,” where rumors flowed like rivers, the Black Dahlia always seemed surrounded by an aura of mystery, even for us on the inside. For some reason, whatever leads there may have been remained tightly locked and secure within the files. No leaks existed. Nothing was ever discussed.

  In 1975, a made-for-television movie, entitled Who Is the Black Dahlia? and starring Efrem Zimbalist Jr. as Sergeant Harry Hansen and Lucie Arnaz as the “Dahlia,” was aired. It told the tragic story of a beautiful young woman who came to Hollywood during World War II to find fame and fortune. In 1947 she was abducted and murdered by a madman, her nude body cut in half and dumped in a vacant lot in a residential section, where a horrified neighbor discovered her and called the police. A statewide dragnet ensued, but her killer was never caught. This was all I and my fellow detectives knew about the crime. Fragments of a cold case, fictionalized in a TV movie.

  On several occasions during my long tour of duty at Hollywood Homicide, I would answer the phone and someone would say, “I have information on a suspect in the Black Dahlia murder case.” Most of the callers were psychos, living in the past and caught up in the sensationalism of decades gone by. I would patiently refer them downtown to the Robbery-Homicide detail and advise them to report their information to the detective currently assigned to the case.

  Despite the near-legendary status of the Black Dahlia, neither I nor any detective I knew ever spent much time discussing the case. It had not occurred on our watch. It belonged to the past; we belonged to the present and the future.

  Law enforcement has learned a lot since the 1960s, when the first serious attempts were made to identify the phenomena known as serial killers. Earlier, with the exception of a few forward-thinking investigators scattered throughout the country, most cases were characterized in the files of their local police departments as separate, unrelated homicides, especially if they happened to cross jurisdictional and territorial boundaries between city and county. For example, a murder on the north side of famed Sunset Boulevard would be handled by LAPD, but if the body had fallen ten feet to the south it would become the responsibility of the Los Angeles Sheriff’s Department. As recently as the 1980s, these two departments rarely if ever shared information, modus operandi, or even notes on their unsolved homicides.

  Today, experts in the fields of criminology and psychology are light-years ahead of their counterparts of even a decade ago in dealing with serial killers. Law enforcement officials have become much more aware and effective in their ability to connect serial crimes. Advances in education, training, communication, and technology, particularly in forensics and computerization, have made today’s criminal investigator much more aware of crime-scene potentials. He has “gone to school” on the Ted Bundys, Jeffrey Dahmers, and Kenneth Bianchis of the world. Through their independent analysis, joint studies and pooling of data, through interviews and observations, recognized experts in this highly specialized field have fine-tuned what we thought we knew, and have expanded on the old ideas.

  Modus operandi, once recognized as only the most general of patterns, has now been broken down into specialized subgroups. Sexually sadistic murderers are categorized as “signature killers,” and that category in turn has several subtypes, depending on the specific act or acts of violence.

  These experts have assigned new names to old passions that are crime-specific, and have attempted to identify individual psychotic behavior and link it to actions found at the scenes of multiple homicides. Connections are made by identifying conscious or unconscious actions performed by the killer. These actions are so specific that they reveal him or her to be the author, or “writer,” of the crimes. Hence the term “signature.”

  Today, many more crimes are being connected and solved as police and sheriff’s departments across the nation open their doors and minds to the information and training made available.

  That there exists a mental-physical connection to the commission of crimes is neither startling nor new. Every investigator is familiar with the old maxim of “MOM,” the three theoretical elements required to solve a murder case: motive, opportunity, and means. There are numerous exceptions to this rule, especially with today’s apparent alarming increase in acts of random violence, such as drive-by shootings. Nonetheless, motive remains an integral part of the crime of murder.

  Most murders are not solved by brilliant deduction, à la Sherlock Holmes. The vast majority are solved by basic “gumshoeing,” walking the streets, knocking on doors, locating and interviewing witnesses, friends, and business associates of the victim. In most cases, one of these sources will come up with a piece of information that will point to a possible suspect with a potential motive: a jealous ex-lover, financial gain, revenge for a real or imagined wrong. There are as many motives for the crime of murder as there are thoughts to think them.

  Our thoughts connect us to one another and to our actions. Our thought patterns determine what we do each day each hour, each minute. While our actions may appear simple, routine, and automatic, they really are not. Behind and within each of our thoughts is an aim, an intent, a motive.

  The motive within each thought is unique. In all of our actions, each of us leaves behind traces of our self. Like our fingerprints, these traces are identifiable. I call them thoughtprints. They are the ridges, loops, and whorls of our mind. Like the individual “points” that a criminalist examines in a fingerprint, they mean little by themselves and remain meaningless, unconnected shapes in a jigsaw puzzle until they are pieced together to reveal a clear picture.

  Most people have no reason to conceal their thoughtprints. We are, most if not all of the time, open and honest in our acts: our motives are clear, we have nothing to hide. There are other times, however, when we become covert, closeted in our actions: a secret love affair, a shady business deal, a hidden bank account, or the commission of a crime. If we are careful and clever in committing our crime, we may remember to wear gloves and not leave any fingerprints behind. But rarely are we clever enough to mask our motives, and we will almost certainly leave behind our thoughtprints. A collective of our motives, a paradigm constructed from our individual thoughts, these illusive prints construct the signature that will connect or link us to a specific time, place, crime, or victim.

  Solving Los Angeles’s most notorious homicide of the twentieth century, the murder of a young woman known to the world as the Black Dahlia, as well as the other sadistic murders discussed in this book, is the result of finding and piecing together hundreds of separate thoughtprints. Together with the traditional evidence, these thoughtprints make our case more than fifty years after the event, and establish beyond a reasonable doubt the identity of her killer, the man who called himself the “Black Dahlia Avenger.”
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  The Biltmore

  January 9, 1947

  IT WAS MID-WEEK, Thursday evening at 6:30 P.M. There were only a handful of people milling around the Biltmore Hotel lobby scanning for the bellhops to take them up in the elevators. Few noticed when the strikingly beautiful young woman with swirling jet-black hair was escorted into the lobby by a nervous young red-haired man, who stayed for a while, then said goodbye and left her there. Maybe one or two guests observed the woman as she went up to the front desk, where she begged for attention from an officious young man who avoided her stare until she spoke up. She stood there, shifting her weight from one foot to the other, watching the clerk rifle through a stack of messages below the counter. He shook his head, and the young woman made her way silently across the deep red carpet to the phone booth, as if she’d been through the place a hundred times before. A couple of people turned to look at her when she hung up the receiver with a loud click.

  Now, as she stood outside the phone booth, she seemed crestfallen, almost desperate. Or maybe it was fear.

  Again she walked over to the desk, then back to the phone booth, endlessly fidgeting with her handbag and looking around as if she were waiting for someone. A date? More people began to notice her. Perhaps she was a newly discovered actress or just another wannabe scratching at the door of fame to get herself in. She didn’t look L.A. Maybe she was from San Francisco. She looked more like Northern California—well dressed, buttoned up, edgy, her fingers twitching nervously inside her snow-white gloves.

  Increasingly people in the lobby couldn’t keep their eyes off her, this woman in the black collarless suit accented by a white fluffy blouse that seemed to caress her long, pale white neck. A striking presence, she looked a lot taller than most of the people in the lobby that night, probably because of the black suede high-heeled shoes she was wearing. She was carrying a warm full-length beige coat, a portent of the approaching January chill that creeps along Wilshire Boulevard from the ocean every night at the leading edge of the raw, swirling fog.

  As the lobby began to fill, each man who passed her, seeing her standing alone with a look of expectation on her face, was sure she was waiting for someone special. Her eyes seemed to widen a bit every time a new guy in a suit came through the door. And each man probably wished in his heart of hearts that he was the Prince Charming she was waiting for that night, probably for a late dinner or dancing at one of the Hollywood clubs.

  As time passed, the young woman became increasingly anxious. Where was he? She sat down. She stood up. She paced the lobby. The woman with no name walked over to the check-in clerk at the front desk and had him change her dollar bill to nickels. Again she went into the phone booth and dialed a number, this time more frantically than before as she snapped the rotor with a loud click between each digit. She slammed down the receiver. Still no answer. Where was he? She slumped into one of the lobby easy chairs and nervously thumbed through a magazine without reading. Every ten minutes or so she once again went over and made a phone call. What kind of man could keep such a beauty waiting?

  One hour turned into two. If you were watching her face from across the lobby, you would have seen her jaw tighten, her anxiety turn to anger. He was always like that, late when you wanted him to be on time, early when you wanted him to be late. It was all his way. She thought about that afternoon in early December, just a month ago, when he’d told her—ordered her was more like it—to meet him at the Ambassador Hotel, Los Angeles’s grand dame, west of downtown on Wilshire Boulevard. “Meet me for a drink at five,” he had said.

  That time he had forced her to suffer through a three-hour wait at the bar. She had sat there spinning on her red barstool, playing with swizzle sticks, nursing her ginger ales and Cokes, and batting away the advances of seven men, from the twenty-three-year-old bartender to the wealthy real estate broker in his seventies with a Palm Springs tan that made his face look like leather. The remaining five guys had thought she was a high-class hooker or possibly a bored housewife, all dressed up and looking for a little fun. She had suffered a sugar high that night, she complained, after all those sodas she had drunk at the bar just waiting for him. When he finally showed, it was without apology. “I was delayed.” Arrogant and simple, just like that. And she took it, too.

  That was then. She said to herself she wouldn’t take it again. It was late now, pitch-black outside. The bright lights inside the Biltmore lobby sparkled as if they were still greeting the New Year. The beautiful young woman thought about the past eight months. She had expected them to be great when she came back to L.A. from Massachusetts. She’d marry Lieutenant Right and raise a family. But it didn’t happen that way.

  Then things got worse and she was becoming afraid. Maybe the New Year would bring her better luck.

  She dropped another nickel into the payphone and redialed the office number just a few short blocks from where she stood. Finally he picked up. “Yes, I’m here,” she said with a show of irritation. “At the Biltmore. I’ve been waiting well over two hours. Yes, all right, I’m on my way.” She hung up, and her demeanor immediately changed. She was radiant.

  She walked east through the lobby, stopping first at the concierge desk to look at the large calendar, next at the front desk where she’d checked for messages when she came in, and then down the interior steps toward the Olive Street entrance. The doorman held open the large, ornately designed glass doors for her, and she stepped out into the chill darkness of a California midwinter’s night. She turned back one last time toward the hotel, noticed her reflection in the glass door, and straightened the large flower that shone like a white diamond pinned atop her thick black swept-back hair. She paused briefly to straighten it, smiled at the onlookers who stared at her from inside the glass divide, and then turned south, walking toward 6th Street into the deepening fog that curled around her like smoke, making it seem as if she were disappearing into the night. The darkness had a life of its own, folding her into itself.
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  Jane Doe Number 1

  Dahlia: From the family Asteraceae, bred as an ornamental flower whose leaves are often segmented, toothed, or cut.

  THE MORNING OF JANUARY 15, 1947, was especially cool and overcast for Los Angeles. At about 10:30 A.M., a woman walking with her young daughter caught a glimpse of white flesh through a clump of brown grass in a vacant lot. She turned and saw what she figured was a body lying right there in the dirt, just a few inches from the sidewalk’s edge. She ran to a nearby home and called the University Division police station.

  Even though the communications officer on the other end of the line tried to get her name, in her excitement the woman never gave it, so dispatch assigned the call to a patrol unit as a “possible 390 down in the lot at 39th and Norton Avenue.” A 390 is a stuporous drunk. Nobody knew yet that they were dealing with a corpse. The lot in question was in the Leimert Park section of Los Angeles, a middle-class, residential neighborhood west of downtown in LAPD’s University Division. The glamour world of Hollywood lay just five miles to the north, a short ten-minute drive away.

  When the call went out, it wasn’t just to the patrol unit ordered to respond, it was also to a whole cadre of newspaper reporters cruising their beats, with police radios in their cars crackling out cryptic messages to LAPD patrol units. In 1947 it was as common for the newspaper reporters to monitor the police and fire radio bands on receivers hanging under the dashboards in their private cars as it is for today’s reporters to carry handheld digital scanners on their belt clips. If you were a reporter working an L.A. beat in the 1940s you bought the most powerful police radio you could find and the longest whip antenna for your car, in the hope of being the first at a crime, fire, disaster, or any other newsworthy event. Even reporters working for the same paper raced one another to a location at the mere scent of a possible story, because a byline for a reporter meant ownership. And that, too, hasn’t changed since the 1940s.

  Los Angeles Examiner reporter Will Fowler, son of the famous writer Gene Fowler, and his photographer partner Felix Paegel caught the call from University Division dispatch just as it was broadcast over the police radio and were the first to arrive at the scene. Before any police officers pulled up and posted men to guard the crime scene, Fowler and Paegel were standing there, two eyewitnesses gaping not at a drunken man but at a naked corpse lying spread-eagled in the grass. Fowler later described what he had seen that morning in his book Reporters: Memoirs of a Young Newspaperman:

  
    Then an ivory-white thing caught my eye. “There she is,” I said. “It’s a body all right.”

    There’s something about a dead body you couldn’t mistake. I approached it like I half-expected it to jump up and run after me.

    As I got closer, I called back to Paegel, who was pulling his Speed Graphic from the car trunk: “Jesus, Felix, this woman’s cut in half!”

    It’s difficult to describe two parts of a body as being one. However, both halves were facing upward. Her arms were extended above her head. Her translucent blue eyes were only half-opened so I closed her eyelids.

  

  As Fowler knelt over the dead woman in the moments before the police arrived, he could see that her fingernails had been poorly cared for, and her chestnut hair, as it appeared from the roots, had been dyed jet black. He also could see that the woman’s lower thoracic vertebrae had been neatly severed—not sawed—because he could see no evidence of bone granules at the separation.

  Paegel began documenting the crime scene itself, taking a shot of the body in the barren field and another of Fowler, all alone, stooping beside the body. The photos, which would be published later that same day in the Los Angeles Examiner, were retouched by the photo artist, because the editors wanted to spare their readers the shock of the grisly brutality of the victim’s condition. The photo artist covered up the lower part of the woman’s body with an airbrushed blanket. He also concealed the gruesome facial wounds the victim displayed by removing the deep slashes on either side of her mouth.

  While Paegel was shooting his photographs, the first black-and-white arrived at the scene. The two uniformed officers approached Fowler, not knowing at first who he was, until he showed them his police ID. One of the cops had already pulled out his gun. As more units arrived, Fowler left the scene for a phone booth to call in the story to his city editor, James Richardson. When Richardson heard the victim had been cut in half, he ordered Fowler back to the office right away with the negatives. The photo was quickly processed, and Richardson made the decision to beat the other afternoon papers with an “extra” that he got out onto the street even as Fowler returned to the crime scene for a follow-up.

  By now the scene was alive with other reporters, more police units, and detectives who had positioned the uniformed cops and some of the reporters into a human strip of crime-scene tape. Word had spread over the police radios that a woman had been murdered, cut in half, and dumped. That brought an onslaught of reporters, elbowing their way past one another for a closer look at the body. By the time the two crack homicide detectives Harry Hansen and Finis Brown, who had been assigned to the case by Captain Jack Donahoe, arrived at the scene, they had to content not only with the groups of reporters and photographers, but also with uniformed officers from the divisions adjacent to the University Division in whose jurisdiction the responsibility for the case belonged.

  The crime scene remained open to the press, with photographers free to roam at will for the best shots. Today a crime-scene investigator would never permit the press to trample on what might be evidence and photograph a murder victim lying in the open. But conditions were very different in 1947 Los Angeles. Police and press were interdependent, and in a sense were very real partners. Most reporters carried police badges and often impersonated detectives to get the real stories any way they could. The press needed the power and the doors that were opened by carrying a badge, and the police needed the press to make them look and sound good, even when they screwed up. Before the days of access journalism and a hostile media, reporters and the police in 1947 Los Angeles formed a mutual admiration society.

  Whenever investigating detectives asked the press to hold back certain information they didn’t want made public, editors and reporters would almost always comply. When a well-connected reporter asked for certain confidential information from the police on a person for a story he or she was working on, the reporter would usually get it. In such a quid pro quo world you broke the rules at your own peril. In this case, the crime-scene photographs of the butchered body would be held back from the public by the press for almost four decades until, it seemed, nobody cared anymore, and the graphic untouched images of the victim’s body finally found their way into print. The first public display of these photographs of which I’m aware was in Kenneth Anger’s book Hollywood Babylon II, published in 1985. More followed, six years later, in Will Fowler’s Reporters, showing the body at different angles and with longer perspectives.

  The photographs from both these books verified for the first time that the body was lying supine, cleanly bisected at the waist. Carefully examining the photographs: the two separated halves lie in close proximity, although the upper torso appears to have been placed asymmetrically, approximately twelve inches above the lower portion and offset to the left by approximately six inches. Both of the victim’s arms are raised above the head, the right arm at a forty-five-degree angle away from the body, then bent at the elbow to form a ninety-degree angle. The left arm extends at a similar angle away from the body, and then bends again to form a second ninety-degree angle that parallels the body. This was no normal “dumping” of a victim to get rid of a corpse quickly. In fact, the body had been carefully posed, just six inches from the sidewalk, at a location where the victim was certain to be discovered, to create a shocking scene.

  This kind of cold and conscious act was exceptionally rare in 1947. According to criminal researchers, it occurs in less than one percent of all homicides even today. Most veteran homicide investigators, even those who’ve been involved with hundreds of murder cases, never see an instance where the body is posed the way the victim was that January morning.

  As reporters arrived and left and more police units reported in, detectives and forensic crews continued to collect whatever physical evidence they could find. Among the pieces of evidence they retrieved was a paper cement bag with small traces of what appeared to be water-diluted blood on it. This bag, clearly visible in the photographs, was lying just six inches above the victim’s outstretched right hand, and one detective speculated that it had been used to carry the two sections of the body from a parked car at sidewalk’s edge to the grassy lot.

  Police noted a vehicle’s tire prints at the curb’s edge, close to the body. There was also a bloody heel print from what was believed to be a man’s shoe. Later newspaper reports revealed that these two important pieces of evidence were not secured or photographed by the on-scene detectives.

  Detectives Hansen and Brown quickly determined that, due to the absence of any blood at the scene, the killer had committed the crime elsewhere, then transported both halves of the body to the empty lot on Norton. No identification was found at the location and the victim was initially listed as “Jane Doe Number 1.”

  The Los Angeles newspapers were already running wild with the story when, the following morning, Dr. Frederic Newbarr, then chief autopsy surgeon for the County of Los Angeles, performed the autopsy. His findings showed the cause of death to be “hemorrhage and shock from a concussion of the brain and lacerations of her face.” He determined further that “the trauma to the head and face were the result of multiple blows using a blunt instrument.”

  It was clear to the medical examiner that not only had her body been neatly and cleanly bisected, but that a sharp, thin-bladed instrument, consistent with a surgeon’s scalpel, had been used to perform the operation. The incision was performed through the abdomen, and then through the intervertebral disk between the second and third lumbar vertebrae. The bisection had been carried out with such precision that it was apparent it was the work of a professional, someone trained in surgical procedures. Police criminologist Ray Pinker confirmed the medical examiner’s opinion, and later his findings were confirmed after a study he made with Dr. LeMoyne Snyder of the Michigan State Police.

  Dr. Newbarr’s preliminary estimate set the time of death within a twenty-four-hour period prior to the discovery of the body, thus establishing the time of the murder as sometime after 10:00 A.M. on January 14.

  But who was the victim?

  On January 16, 1947, the Los Angeles Examiner offered this questionnaire:

  
    Description of Dead Girl Given

    
      	
        Do you know a missing girl who chewed her fingernails?

      

      	
        If so she may be the victim of yesterday’s mutilation slaying.

      

      	
        The dead girl’s description:

      

      	
        
          
            	
              
                	
                  Age—Between 15 and 16 years.

                

              

            

            	
              
                	
                  Weight—118 pounds.

                

              

            

            	
              
                	
                  Eyes—Gray-blue or gray-green.

                

              

            

            	
              
                	
                  Nose—Small turned up.

                

              

            

            	
              
                	
                  Ears—Small lobes.

                

              

            

            	
              
                	
                  Eyelashes—Virtually colorless.

                

              

            

            	
              
                	
                  Hair—Hennaed, but original dark brown growing out.

                

              

            

            	
              
                	
                  Foot size—6-1/2.

                

              

            

            	
              
                	
                  Toenails—Enameled pink.

                

              

            

            	
              
                	
                  Scars—3-1/2 inch operational scar on right side of back: 1-1/2 inch scar on right abdomen, possible appendectomy; 

                     vaccination scar, left thigh; small scar on left knee and another above the knee.

                

              

            

            	
              
                	
                  Moles—Six small moles on back of neck below collar line; another in small of back.

                

              

            

            	
              
                	
                  General description—Rather well developed, small bones with trim legs.

                

              

            

          

        

      

    

  

  Scrambling for any piece of the puzzle that would allow the winner of the who-is-Jane-Doe-Number-1 contest to emblazon the victim’s name in a full-page headline, the city editor of the Los Angeles Examiner suddenly had an idea. In a meeting with LAPD detectives, he made an offer that was immediately accepted—to transmit the fingerprints of Jane Doe Number 1 via an early photo facsimile machine called a “Soundex” through their proprietary communications network to their Washington, D.C., bureau. Reporters in the D.C. office had FBI agents standing by to transport the fingerprints immediately to their records section for identification. That the city editor’s motive was to be the first one on the street to carry her identity didn’t matter, for the detectives were as hungry for information as the press. A memo to J. Edgar Hoover, dated June 24, 1947, and now available to the public under the Freedom of Information Act, identifying Jane Doe Number 1, speaks for itself:

  
    FBI MEMO

    LI #590

    June 24, 1947

    SOUND-PHOTO TRANSMISSION OF FINGERPRINTS LEADS TO IDENTITY OF ELIZABETH SHORT

    During January, 1947, the police in a Southern California city were not only confronted with the problem of solving mad butcher murders of women, but in the first instance were many times unable to determine the identity of the victims.

    When the body of a young woman, severed at the waist and mutilated in other ways, was found in a vacant lot in Southwestern Los Angeles on the morning of January 15, 1947, they were again confronted with this problem. It appeared she had been dead about ten hours and the body had been placed in full view only a few feet from the sidewalk. The authorities were practically at a standstill in their investigation until the deceased victim could be identified.

    The fingerprints of the body were taken by the police, who then sought the cooperation of the Los Angeles Examiner newspaper to transmit the fingerprints by wire photo to the FBI Identification Division in Washington, D.C. Eliciting the aid of the International News Service, the newspaper transmitted the prints to its Washington headquarters. At 11 a.m. on January 16 the pictures were received by the Identification Division. Within 56 minutes an identification was established with two fingerprint cards previously on file bearing the name of Elizabeth Short.

    Despite the fact that two of the impressions were missing entirely and three others were badly blurred, FBI fingerprint technicians were able to make an identification by searching all possible fingerprint combinations. At this time there were approximately 104,000,000 fingerprint cards on file.

    One of the fingerprint cards submitted and identified as that of Elizabeth Short indicated that Miss Short was an applicant for a position as a clerk in the Post Exchange of Camp Cooke, California, on January 30, 1943. The other set was submitted by the Santa Barbara, California, Police Department reflecting her arrest on September 23, 1943, on charges of violating juvenile court laws, after which she was released to the probation department.

    The successful use of scientific communications equipment in this case was referred to by the Director of the FBI as follows: “The action of the Los Angeles Examiner in transmitting to the FBI the fingerprints of the unidentified murder victim is an excellent illustration of the cooperation of the press with law enforcement, and it is such cooperation that aids law enforcement in curbing the increase in crime.”

  

  As the FBI memo indicates, within hours of the transmission the victim’s prints were connected to an arrest in Santa Barbara, a coastal community some ninety miles north of Los Angeles, where three years earlier in September 1943 the victim had been detained as a minor for being present with adults where alcohol was being served. That arrest report provided Los Angeles police with the necessary information about her identity and background.

  Her name was Elizabeth Short. The Santa Barbara police report from 1943 described her as a female, Caucasian, born July 29, 1924. Her mother, Mrs. Phoebe Short, resided in Medford, Massachusetts. As a result of the records the LAPD assembled, detectives were able to establish a background and history on the victim prior to her arrival in California.

  They learned that Elizabeth was born in Hyde Park, a suburb of Boston, and grew up in nearby Medford. Her mother was the sole provider for Elizabeth and her four sisters after their father, Cleo Short, abandoned the family in 1930 and eventually wound up working and living in Southern California. Elizabeth was exceptionally attractive and well liked at Medford High School, but she dropped out in her sophomore year and in 1942 moved to Miami Beach, Florida, where she got a job as a waitress.

  It was in Miami, on her own for probably the first time, that she met a Flying Tigers pilot named Major Matt Gordon Jr., who was stationed there. He was shortly sent overseas, and Elizabeth began to correspond with him, reportedly sending him twenty-seven letters in eleven days.

  In January 1943, Elizabeth traveled to Santa Barbara, California, where she applied for and was hired at the post exchange at the Camp Cooke military base. Her employment there was brief, after which she left to seek her father, who, she discovered, was living close by, in Vallejo, California. She stayed with her father briefly, but both were uncomfortable with the living arrangements, and she returned to Santa Barbara in September 1943.

  Elizabeth liked servicemen and wanted to be around them. Her attraction to men in uniform was clear both from her relationship with Major Gordon and her desire to attend nightspots and clubs frequented by military personnel. It was in such a nightspot that she was arrested on September 23, 1943, because alcohol was being served there and she was only nineteen, in violation of California’s liquor law. When she agreed to return home rather than face charges in California, Santa Barbara County probation authorities provided her with a ticket to return home to Medford.

  During the rest of the war years, Elizabeth continued to write Major Matt Gordon, and in April 1945 he reportedly proposed marriage. Elizabeth accepted, but before Gordon could return home he was killed in a plane crash in India. Elizabeth Short’s marriage plans, and hopes for any future she might have had as an officer’s wife, went down in flames with Major Gordon’s plane.

  During the winter of 1945, Elizabeth remained on the East Coast, and again traveled to Florida, where she took a job as a waitress in Miami Beach. In February 1946, she returned home to Medford and worked as a cashier at a local movie theater, but on April 17, 1946, returned to California, this time to Hollywood. During the nine-month period preceding her death, Elizabeth was known to have lived as a transient at various boardinghouses and with a variety of roommates. She stayed at a hotel in Long Beach for several weeks during the summer months and then returned to Hollywood, where she first shared a room in a private residence, then lived in an apartment with seven other young women. She also shared rooms at several hotels in Hollywood for brief periods. In December she left for San Diego and returned to Los Angeles on January 9, 1947. That was the night she disappeared into the fog after leaving the Olive Street entrance of the Biltmore Hotel.

  Subsequent to the discovery of the victim’s body, and after many of the descriptive details from the autopsy findings were leaked to the press, not only Los Angeles but the entire country became obsessed with Elizabeth Short’s murder. Before the age of the Internet, twenty-four-hour-cable news networks, or television, much of the interest in a mysterious, beautiful murder victim was driven by page-one newspaper headlines and radio announcers. Feeding the public’s intoxication with the victim was her sobriquet “the Black Dahlia,” which reporters claimed was given her by the men and sailors who saw the attractive black-haired young woman frequent their favorite pharmacy soda fountain in Long Beach.* Along with this name the newspapers printed blown-up high-school photos of the exotic young woman. This, combined with the horrific details of sadistic torture, bisection, and mutilation, fed the macabre imaginations of newspaper readers from coast to coast.

  The ongoing murder investigation remained on page one of the Los Angeles newspapers for a record thirty-one successive days. The January 16 first-day edition sold more newspapers than any other edition in the history of the Los Angeles Examiner, with the sole exception of VE Day. This Los Angeles frenzy was also driven by the fierce competition among the six newspapers in the city, as the Hearst syndicate, which owned the Examiner and the Los Angeles Evening Herald and Express, vied with the Chandler empire, publisher of the Los Angeles Times and its tabloid the Los Angeles Mirror. Most rounds went to the Los Angeles Examiner, whose night city editor had sent the victim’s fingerprints to the FBI for quick identification, thus gaining initial favor with LAPD and the investigating detectives.

  In truth, the crime reporters were usually way ahead of the detectives, especially when it came to locating and interviewing witnesses. They didn’t punch the time clock at five o’clock, but kept on working until they had the story. Reporters also worked for newspaper owners who had deep pockets and paid whatever it took to get a big story on the streets first. If it meant paying cash to help out a witness who was going through a rough patch, a reporter could always get the money. Then, after he’d called in the story, he’d turn over what he had learned to his friendly detective on the force. Thus both the police and the press had the power to get things done for each other. For the most part they tried to share their findings, but ultimately it was an uneasy partnership.

  All of these factors were at work in the Black Dahlia case, to such an extent that the reporting of and publicity about her murder were unparalleled in Los Angeles history. Even the Lindbergh kidnapping or the Leopold and Loeb murder trials had not taken up as much local media space. The public was so voracious for any news that reporters spread out across the nation for background on Elizabeth Short. They located and interviewed her family, close friends and acquaintances, roommates and classmates, ex-lovers, and military men. With few exceptions, almost every detail these crime reporters discovered through their independent investigations, no matter how irrelevant, turned up in print the next day and helped keep the public’s seemingly insatiable appetite fed.

  After a full month of daily headlines, the Dahlia homicide had found its place as the most notorious unsolved murder of the century.

  

  * It was later speculated that the original source for this name was The Blue Dahlia, a Raymond Chandler–penned murder mystery, starring Alan Ladd and Veronica Lake, released and screened in L.A. in the summer of 1946.
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  A Death in the Family

  May 17, 1999, Bellingham, Washington

  WHEN THE PHONE RINGS at one in the morning, you hope it’s a wrong number. If it’s not, it’s usually bad news. And that’s what it was for me on Monday, May 17, 1999: a hard ring, an insistent ring that wouldn’t go away because my answering machine was off, and it woke me from a deep sleep. June, my father’s wife, was hysterical on the other end, screaming into her receiver at their penthouse suite in San Francisco. “Steve,” she said, trying to regain some composure, “your father. He’s dead!” Between her sobs I could pick up snippets of what had happened. “Heart attack. Paramedics still here. Your brother Duncan and his wife are here with me. Come down. Please come down now. I could have saved him, Steven. I should have done something more. I am all alone now.”

  When I was an LAPD homicide detective, I taught myself how to wake up instantly in the middle of the night when we had to roll out to a call. It was a skill I’d lost over the years since I retired, but it came back to me as June kept talking. I tried to reassure her that we would take care of things, offering her whatever comfort I could over the phone. “I’ll be there on the first flight I can get, June.” It was the best I could do. I made coffee and got on the phone to find a seat on the first flight to San Francisco from Seattle, some ninety miles south of my home in Bellingham, where I had been living for the past twelve years.

  Eight hours later I was boarding the plane at SeaTac airport, looking forward to two hours of time alone to ruminate upon the passing of “the Great Man.” The grief and the loss that I felt, that all sons feel at the death of their father, was mixed with the satisfaction I had from knowing that his life had been long and remarkable. His life, as much as I knew of it, had been unique, much larger than that of most people I knew. George Hill Hodel, M.D., who seemed to have lived four lifetimes, had been held in awe by all of his children from all four of his families. And now he was gone.

  As the plane lifted through the cloud cover and carried me toward the passage that almost all sons must inevitably make (the burial of their fathers), I felt oddly grateful that I had been granted the opportunity to repair a relationship with a father I had never really known. There were only snatches and pieces of memory from my childhood in our mysterious Hollywood house, and then, after he had left, nothing.

  Now I was fifty-seven. But my relationship with my father had really begun only eight years earlier. Before that the two of us had been strangers, sharing a hello once in a while over the phone or a handshake now and then when I visited him in Asia or when he was passing through L.A. on business. For thirty-five years there had been brief encounters in hotel lobbies, but ours had never been a real father-son relationship.

  What we had had were business meetings, where his stiff and formal demeanor was as offputting to me as it was to all his children. To us, he was the “doctor”—clinical, cold, and remote. It struck me as passing strange that my father, with his brilliant mind and extensive training as a psychiatrist, was so obviously uncomfortable among his children. In lectures, using his vocabulary and wit, he was able to charm and hypnotize whole audiences with his charismatic personality and as a leader in his field. Yet in the role of father he was painfully awkward and inept. This paradoxical disconnect, however, actually gave life and body to the eccentricities that made him a distant legend to all of his children. And I was no exception, having lived in the same house with my father in Hollywood in the late 1940s and then twenty-five years later spending time with him in the Philippines when he wanted to woo me away from LAPD Homicide and groom me to take over his business. But that was more than twenty years ago.

  Over the ensuing decades, after my retirement and a subsequent career as a P.I. specializing in criminal cases, I had begun to make a breakthrough into the mystery of my father. Slowly, gradually, since his return to the United States in 1991 after a forty-year absence, I had established the beginnings of a relationship with him. I was almost fifty and he was eighty-four.

  I believe my change of career had helped us in some ways. I knew that he had on occasion worried about my personal safety. But now I was no longer the metropolitan homicide detective waiting for the midnight callout to a Hollywood murder. No more six o’clock news interviews with the L.A. press reporters who wanted to be assured that “an arrest is imminent.” Those glory days were behind me now. I liked retirement. I liked my new work as a P.I. I liked the fairness of it all. It had been twenty-four years for the prosecution and almost fourteen years for the defense. A recent major victory for an innocent client was still reverberating through my psyche. My life was moving toward a natural homeostatic balance. And now, seeing my face reflected in the airplane window at 35,000 feet against a cloudscape so thick you were sure you could walk on it, that balance was upset and all I could feel was a hole where the past had been. I kept picturing my father over the years: the young 1920s crime reporter, the bohemian artist, the silky-voiced radio announcer, the meticulous surgeon, the austere but dominating psychiatrist, and finally the entrepreneurial marketing genius who had moved to Asia in 1950, abandoning all of us.

  My father and I couldn’t have been more different. My job as a street detective in the Hollywood Homicide Division had taught me how to size up and read a person’s character. I was good at it, and most of the time I was right about people. I made lots of mistakes about other things in life, but rarely was I wrong about people. My judgment was intuitive and accurate, partly developed, partly inherent.

  Where Dad was rock, I was water. My father was clinical, almost bloodless in his dealings with people. If he was intuitive, it was so far below the surface you wouldn’t even know it was there. He was a hard and cold individual with a huge ego whose demeanor bordered on the tyrannical. “King George,” friends called him in jest, but it was true. Perhaps his demeanor was the result of his many years of living in the Orient, in Manila, where there are just two classes—the very rich and the very poor. But I think not. I think it was always there, always a part of him. He was a man I had not liked even when he telephoned me out of the blue with what he said could be the offer of a lifetime.

  In 1973, he had asked me to come to Manila and take a look at his business. He had said, “Come over and take a look at what I have built in Asia. Come over and consider the possibility of working for me, Steven.” By then he had built market research offices in Manila, Hong Kong, Tokyo, and Singapore, and his offer was tempting. I was single again and, at thirty-two, with no children, I was free to remake my life. Visions of exotically beautiful women, along with palatial living quarters, danced like sugarplum fairies in my head at night. So I took six weeks’ leave of absence from my work at Hollywood Homicide. I wanted to get as clear a picture of the operation as possible.

  By then I had been promoted to detective. It would have been a huge decision if I had chosen to leave LAPD and give up my pension when I was already halfway around the track. Here I would not be my usual impulsive self. Not on something so important that it would affect the rest of my life. So I took a leave to explore my father’s world and a life that was waiting for me if I chose to embrace it.

  The six weeks in the Orient were totally indulgent. This boss’s son was spoiled rotten and catered to beyond his dreams. But beneath the excitement, the fun, and the entertainment of it all, I knew it could not be. I simply could not work for such a man. His oversized business cards with his near-imperial title said it all: “Doctor George Hill Hodel, Director General.” He was a control freak, and I would not subordinate myself to him. I felt like a player in a big-stakes poker game, holding only a pair of sevens and knowing there was a much stronger hand in the game. I folded.

  But by the 1990s, all that had changed. He was no longer the megalomaniac of old. He became the prodigal father returning to his native soil, changed and reformed. Now at eighty-three, his fires still burned strong, but not with the white heat of twenty-five years earlier. He was different now, settled into a final long-term marriage with June, whom he had married in 1969. With her encouragement he had exchanged much of his robber-baron lifestyle for a slower, more comfortable existence, more in keeping with his advancing years. By the time he returned to the United States from his expatriate years in Asia, he was more forgiving and accepting. And so was I.

  Our attempts at a new relationship were gradual, tentative, and laborious at first, typically expressed through faxes and notes. It was the start of communications between us that would grow stronger as the trust built. As the years followed I would make increasingly regular trips to visit Dad and June in San Francisco, and they in turn would make occasional trips north to Bellingham to visit me and to explore the beauty of the San Juan Islands in Puget Sound.

  For the first time in our adult lives together, quality father-and-son time would go beyond the formalities of a business meeting and take on the aspect of something social and even human. Now our gatherings would even contain some laughter, and I would be permitted brief glimpses at the man who had always walked through life behind an iron mask. It would only be a peek, though, and the occasions were rare, but it was enough. I could see that my father, after so many years of being a stranger to his son, was beginning to mellow. I had made a breakthrough with him. Though he still felt awkward and uncomfortable talking about feelings and things of the heart, I knew I could finally begin to broach some personal and honest topics with him so as to touch on what to me was the only truly important thing in life as far as I was concerned—communication and relationships. But it was too little too late.

  Just a week before my father’s passing, I was concerned about his health. I had heard nothing by fax from him or June for quite a while. I’d invited them to come up during the summer, stay with me for a week or so, and we could make the short drive to Vancouver, Canada, for sightseeing and day trips.

  Sensing that his health was failing or something else was amiss, I faxed them and asked him directly about his physical condition. On May 9, 1999, I received the following fax:

  
    
      May 9, 1999

      Dear Steve:

      Thanks for your fax of yesterday May 8. Your photos also arrived yesterday and are great depictions of your beautiful new home, and we do wish that we could see it with you.

      There is a reason why you haven’t heard much from us for the past few months. We certainly miss seeing you for prolonged periods such as this.

      The fact of the matter is that I have been going through a particularly difficult situation in regard to my overall health. We have not wanted to expose to you or to anyone else the full extent of my present debility and overall weakness and general helplessness. This would be humiliating, and could leave a much tarnished image in your minds.

      I am now wheelchair-bound, and cannot get around without a great deal of help from June, plus the wheelchair and rolling walker. On the rare occasions when I must go out to see a doctor we also need the help of a hired limo with a strongly built driver.

      None of this comes as an actual surprise to me. The overall clinical picture is just about what we would normally expect in a patient who has moved on into the final terminal phase of congestive heart failure. The clinical fact is that I have simply lived a few years too long.

      Let me assure you that this thought does not frighten me in the least. For example, I am going into the hospital tomorrow, Monday, for a procedure, which is called cardiac retroversion. This consists of applying two strong electric shocks to the heart, in an attempt to change its present arrhythmia (disturbance of heart rhythm), which in my case is known as “heart flutter” into a more normal rhythm.

      But if this and other corrective procedures fail, I shall not be saddened. I have been fortunate enough to lead a very full and interesting life and to know some truly wonderful women and to have some very fine children of whom I am truly proud. The most recent few years have been among the happiest in a long life, thanks to the remarkable help given by June, who is indeed an angel.

      In the meantime, June and I send you our love.

      George and June

    

  

  In light of that fax, and intuiting that the end could possibly be near, even for this man considered by all of his children to be an immortal, I felt an urgency to speak from my heart, and mailed a letter to him the following morning.

  
    
      May 9, 1999

      Dear Father:

      Thank you for giving me an honest and accurate picture of your current health condition. I very much appreciate it, and know how difficult and naturally reluctant you are to do that, for many valid reasons. Your communication, of course, will always remain confidential. Personally, I appreciate knowing things as they are as opposed to how others or I may wish them to be.

      I want you to know that for me, likewise, the past six or seven years have been the happiest. While I have gone through many difficult personal life-changes, emotional adjustments regarding Marsha and the boys, yet I have been extremely happy and content.

      The reason for that happiness was the development of our relationship as father and son. Our relationship, yours and mine, has grown and developed and become real to me. It was not always so. For many reasons beyond both of our control, we did not have the opportunity to share our thoughts. This was neither your fault nor mine. It simply was what was.

      But in these past years, thanks to your openness, acceptance, and encouragement it became something real. It was like a reverse of the normal course of a father-and-son relationship. Ours was in my youth, distant, and now has become close. I thank you for that.

      And I thank you, Father, for your support and patience in me and of me. I thank you for your wise guidance and advice over the past years. Your positive promptings for me to improve my health in many ways. (I think your encouragement in getting me to quit smoking has probably added ten or fifteen years to my natural life and health.)

      Mostly, I thank you for your time. Some wise man said that “Time is our most priceless possession.” And of that you have given me much in these recent years. I look on my computer over the past six years and see hundreds and hundreds of faxes and communications from you. Each one requiring your time and your thought.

      The memories I have of visits here and there are warm reminders of these years, and will be with me while I breathe and think. Thank you for those, dear Father. I don’t want this to sound like a goodbye. But if fate should make it so, then mostly I want you to know how much I love you and how grateful I am to you for the gift of life and for the time we have shared together.

      You are truly a great man, and I am very proud that you are my father.

      ALL MY LOVE

      Steven Kent

    

  

  My father read this on the final day of his life. And now, just twenty-four hours later, the flight attendant was motioning to me to raise my table to the upright position in the minutes before we made our final approach to San Francisco airport.

  The uniformed driver met my arrival at gate 33 with a sincere, “I’m so sorry about your father. He was a special man. Very few like him in the world.” I nodded in the polite acknowledgment of his condolences. We drove in silence to downtown San Francisco to their condo, some forty floors above the financial district in the heart of the city.

  June was in tears when she met me at the door, and we embraced in our sorrow. I held her as she spoke softly in my ear, “I’m all alone now. I’m so afraid. He didn’t have to die, Steven. I thought we would be together for another ten or more years. He died in my arms. I tried to save him but I couldn’t.” She was shaking and looked near death herself, pale and thin as if his death had drained her of life. I could feel her tremendous grief mixed with the fear of having to go it on her own from now on, after having been under George Hodel’s protection and absolute control for thirty years. The apartment seemed woefully empty. No radiant voice, no great intellect, nothing. And that nothingness shouted out the absence of the man. Her man.

  The two of them had been inseparable for the thirty years they had been together. During all of that time they had never been apart for more than a day or two, and that mostly for business purposes. Together they had shared 11,000 sunrises, and now, with him gone, the sun would never rise again for her in the same way.

  June Hodel, my stepmother, was younger than I by about four years. She had been graduated ichiban, at the top of her college class in Japan. Bright, eager, and beautiful, she had answered an advertisement Dad had placed in the Tokyo newspaper for a personal secretary and girl Friday. June had beaten out hundreds of competing applicants for the job working directly for my father.

  Getting the job wasn’t easy because Dad personally administered the battery of tests to her, as he had all the other applicants. The tests measured her personality, intelligence, and familiarity with English. At the conclusion of the tests she was told she “would be contacted sometime in the future.” A week later the phone call came. And again, as she had been in college, she was ichiban—number one.

  She took the job and moved from her southern province of Japan to the Tokyo office, away from her home and family for the first time. From that point on, from age twenty-three, she and my sixty-three-year-old father would remain inseparable, working and traveling throughout the world together. They would reside in Manila, Tokyo, and Hong Kong. They would travel to dozens of foreign countries throughout Asia and Europe, and ultimately move to San Francisco, where they remained inseparable. Then, finally, a few minutes before midnight in mid-May, he would gasp for air, collapse in her arms, and die.

  Now June would be alone for the first time in her fifty-four years. It was a terrible feeling for her. And in those hours after my father’s death when I was holding her there in a sorrowful embrace, I could feel the totality of her loneliness. And I feared for her.

  We spent that afternoon and late into the evening talking about “the Great Man” and what a remarkable life he had lived. And despite my previous eight years of conversations with him to reestablish our relationship, I realized I actually knew very little about him—as did the rest of his children. Like the Wizard of Oz, he had been the all-powerful figurehead behind the curtain. But in reality, who was he?

  My father’s father, George Sr., was born in Odessa, Ukraine, and fled to Paris near the turn of the century. There he met Esther Leov, a dentist, and they married. Like most immigrants, they came through Ellis Island. Then they traveled west to California.

  Dad was born in Los Angeles in 1907. I knew that he was a musical prodigy, that he had played his own piano compositions at age seven or eight in the Shrine auditorium, had a genius IQ—one point above Einstein’s, I was told—and later went to medical school in San Francisco. He returned to Los Angeles, opened a successful medical practice, married my mother, had children, and moved us all to the historic Lloyd Wright Sowden House, on Franklin Avenue in the heart of Hollywood.

  After a family scandal, my father divorced my mother and moved to Hawaii, where he became a psychiatrist. Then he moved to the Far East and married a wealthy Filipina woman with whom he had four children. Ultimately he became a famous market researcher and respected social scientist with offices throughout Asia.

  This was virtually all I knew—just fragments. When my father and I got to know each other during the last years of his life, much of his past, particularly as it related to me and my brothers, still remained a mystery. His children from other marriages probably knew less than I, but that was his way—secret and private—and I respected it. I figured his business was his business and if he chose not to share it with others, even his family, that was his choice.

  Even when he had begun to open up with me during his final years, what he said about his life was still very general, but it had taken a new direction. I took it to be more of an attitudinal change than specific information. Our time together was slower, softer, and gentler, in stark contrast to the brisk lunch meetings of earlier years, where my two brothers and I would receive a last-minute summons to meet him for lunch near L.A. airport, “between flights,” where he would give each of us five minutes to “update him on our lives.”

  During those last years, when I tried to share my thoughts, feelings, and reflections on life with both my father and June, they seemed to appreciate my openness, but it was never fully reciprocated. Weren’t Renaissance men like that—guardians of their secrets? At least that’s what I thought. Now I guessed that probably no one ever knew the real George Hodel, not even his widow.

  After consoling June, I returned to my San Francisco hotel room late that evening filled with an increased sense of loss. For most of the afternoon I’d been a homicide detective, dealing with someone else’s grief. Now my own feelings moved to the forefront as I finally realized my father was gone. Whatever wars would have to be fought between father and son, whatever unresolved issues still lingered in the air, would remain. From this point forward I’d have to deal only with his memory and the unanswered questions in his life that would remain the province of ghosts. At that moment, I too felt the great sense of aloneness that I knew June was feeling. And as I stretched out on the bed in my hotel room, I was overcome with a melancholy sense of the passage of time, of lost opportunities, and above all the loss of my father.

  All of us have our own special days in life, days that relate directly to the core of our being and have the same sign hanging on them, saying, “Private, Keep Out.” We usually see such days only in retrospect; only later do we recognize them as turning points in life. May 18, 1999, would be just such a day for me.

  On that day I returned to Dad and June’s penthouse suite early in the morning, remarking to myself how beautiful the morning sun could be in San Francisco with its promise of a complete renewal. Standing there in the living room, looking eastward, I could see both the Oakland Bay and Golden Gate Bridge, appearing as if by magic through the early-morning fog hanging low over the bay as it was dissipated by the sun. It was a sight that for a moment dissipated our own sadness. But June’s sobs as she went through my father’s personal effects broke into my reverie.

  She was still in a state of shock and emotional trauma. She still blamed herself, believing she could have done something to save him, torturing herself by asking, “What if I had checked on him sooner? What if I had taken him in for a checkup? What if he hadn’t gone to have the arrhythmic procedure done? What if the paramedics had arrived sooner?” I had no words to console her. “It was his time, June,” I repeated. “He lived a long and wonderful life. Ninety-one years filled with adventure and travel is much more than most men have. The thirty years you shared with him were much more than you could have expected. And they were only possible through your love and care.”

  But I saw my words gave her no comfort. She wasn’t functioning, and I realized I would have to make all the arrangements. My first priority was to notify the rest of his children, my sibling and half-siblings. Father had had ten children from four marriages. Seven of his children were still living. His eldest son, Duncan, now seventy and semi-retired, lived a short distance away in a San Francisco suburb. His second-born was a daughter, Tamar, who was now living in Hawaii. Then there were the four children from my mother. Michael, my older full brother, had died in 1986. I was a twin, and my brother John had died a few weeks after he was born, his death ascribed to “failure to thrive.” Kelvin, eleven months my junior, was living in Los Angeles. Then there were Dad’s children from his marriage in the Philippines: Teresa, Diane, Ramon, and Mark. Ramon had died of AIDS at age forty, just four years earlier.

  Each child was duly notified; still to be decided were the precise funeral arrangements. I asked June if my father had left any instructions; I found it hard to believe he had not. She looked at me blankly, then without saying a word handed me a paper she had pulled from her files. I read from the formally typed page on his attorney’s letterhead:

  FUNERAL AND BURIAL INSTRUCTIONS

  TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN:

  I do not wish to have funeral services of any kind. There is to be no meeting or speeches or music and no gravestone or tablet.

  I direct that my physical remains be cremated and that my ashes be scattered over the ocean. There are several crematories in San Francisco which provide these services.

  If I die in a foreign country, cremation and scattering of my ashes may be carried out in that country, or the ashes may be shipped to San Francisco for disposition, with the choice to be made by my wife JUNE, or if she is unavailable, as the executor of my will shall decide.

  /s/ George Hill Hodel

  DATED: June 16, 1993

  “Well, June, there is certainly nothing vague about that,” I said. “No funeral services of any kind, no meeting, no speeches or music, no gravestone or tablet.” That said it all. My father and I had never discussed religion or philosophical matters, so I asked June, “Was Dad an atheist?” She didn’t answer.

  Dad’s body had been transported to the mortuary, and his personal physician had already signed a death certificate indicating that the cause of death was “congestive heart failure due to ischemic cardiomyopathy.” The cremation was scheduled for a few days later.

  “I’ll tell my brothers and sisters of his stated wishes,” I said to June. “And there will be no funeral of any kind. I guess each of us can in our own way and in our own time say our goodbye to Father.” Again June didn’t answer. It was almost as if she had become a robot, running on some computer program. As I read his words, a shiver had gone down my spine: I swear I felt Dad’s presence in the room. I thought to myself that, even after death, he was dictating and controlling the situation. His will be done.

  Next on my list was to notify the various businesses: the banks, credit card companies, the Social Security Administration—all a part of the ritual of one’s passing from this world. It didn’t take me long to complete the notifications, at which point I turned to June again and asked, “What about notifying his personal friends? I will be happy to make those calls for you. I know you’re not up to speaking to anyone right now.” Her face remained blank as if, again, my words had not registered. “What personal friends need to be called?” I repeated.

  She shook her head. There were none. Not one. They had no personal friends. Oh, there were business associates, many of them over the years, who would be sorry to hear the sad news. But personal friends, social friends: none. While June did not seem to be upset by this, the news pained me deeply. The man had lived a long and remarkable life. After a distinguished medical career, he had also been publicly recognized as one of the world’s leading experts in his field of market research. If I was to believe June, there was not one personal friend to notify.

  This was a revelation, underscoring the finality of the man’s death. I realized that there would be no monument to his existence, no celebration of his life. No funeral, no family, no words, no gravestone, no shared remembrances, and no friends to give voice to the impact my father had had on their lives. Not even his children, separated by his serial marriages, by thousands of miles and a score of years, would ever share a moment of silence to respect the life of their father. Other than June, who had been all things to him—lover, friend, confidante, and caregiver—Dad had completely isolated himself from the world of human affection and emotion.

  In life, George Hill Hodel had been raised to mythic proportions by all of his children. Therefore it stood to reason that there was a common, if unvoiced, speculation about his wealth. Perhaps it ranged from a low of several million, to vast amounts of monies secreted in offshore accounts and hidden holdings. While I had indulged in my own speculative accounting based on my observations of their lifestyle during my father’s last years, I still didn’t know the truth of their financial state. Then June handed me a copy of the will. I had overestimated. His worth would not exceed a million. Comfortable, but, alas, a secret coffer of treasure from his lifetime’s work, bulging with bags of gold and jewels from the ancient Orient, did not exist. Father had left a small amount of inheritance to each of his living children in equal shares, and the rest of his estate was to go to June. Probate would be simple, handled by Dad’s longtime San Francisco lawyer, who had been named executor. His office was just minutes away and I scheduled an appointment to meet him the following afternoon.

  That evening was spent reminiscing. June’s tears would not, could not, subside, as if they were cleansing a pain that would not leave her. As we talked, I was amazed at how hungry I was for information about Father, anything that would tell me more about the man as opposed to the myth, I realized that June was my only source. She alone knew the truth or truths. She alone could help me bridge the gap to intimacy with him.

  I felt our friendship, and our mutual need for emotional support, could possibly open the door that had been locked for over five decades. I knew that only June had the key to his heart, and I wanted it. Badly.

  June was cautious. As we spoke about him and their shared lives over the decades, I could sense how tentative she was, as if she were trying to avoid a real conversation. I knew this wasn’t her nature. I could feel she wanted to open up, share her innermost feelings. But the reluctance, foreign as it was to her personality, remained dominant, and I quickly got the impression that her responses to me were conditioned. As if she had been programmed not to speak about things personal and private. As she spoke, I could feel Dad’s presence coming through her. She was hesitant, secret, aloof, and cautious with me. Was this an Asian cultural response to dealing with grief that kept mourners from sharing emotions? I’d never seen it before, particularly when as a P.I. I worked with my Japanese colleagues on criminal cases. Maybe it was only specific to widows. I didn’t know, but I also sensed there was something deeper—and it didn’t have anything to do with grief.

  I walked to the corner of the living room with its wall of glass. It was almost midnight now, and the evening was clear and in sharp focus. The tall buildings below us shone, even with just a few of the many offices still lit. Behind the buildings the dark bay reflected the lights on the broad spans of the suspension bridges, and headlights still moved across them, hundreds of people going on with their lives as I tried to figure out what to ask June next.

  I turned back to the room at the sound of June’s footsteps across the carpet as she approached and handed me a small object I had not seen before. It was a tiny, palm-sized wood-bound photo album, with twelve golden fleurs-de-lys imprinted on the front. It appeared quite old; my guess was at least nineteenth-century. I hefted it, thinking how much heavier it was than it looked. The little book in my hand had a power to it, almost like a talisman. I took it over to a coffee table where I sat down and opened it and paused as my eyes fell upon a picture of Father and me. June saw me smile and looked away, allowing me a moment of privacy.

  Exhibit 1

  [image: image]

  George Hodel’s private photo album

  I was looking at a picture I had never seen before. I was two years old, sitting on my father’s knee. The photograph would have been taken in Hollywood sometime in 1943 and had been cut from a larger photo to fit the small size of the page in the album. Across from it was another picture of my two brothers, Michael and Kelvin. It was the other half of the photograph of Father and me, and both Michael and Kelvin were sitting on our half-brother Duncan’s knee. Duncan was a strikingly handsome young man of about seventeen then. He must have been down visiting us from San Francisco, where he was living with his mother and stepfather.

  Exhibit 2
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  Steven, Father, and Kelvin . . . Kelvin, Duncan, and Michael

  The next page held a portrait photo of my mother, strikingly beautiful and exotic. Yet one could see the sadness in her face. It had always been there. Rarely had I seen a photo of her that did not capture that terrible sadness, her soul crying out from within her, as her eyes revealed the truth of her unhappiness.

  I paused and wondered: was it the unhappiness within her that had made her into the alcoholic she became, or was it her alcoholism that made her eyes so sad? She too was dead, and it grieved me to think about the shipwreck of her life, wasted as it was, all its enormous potential cast away. I turned the page.

  Exhibit 3
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  Dorothy Hodel

  The next picture was of my grandfather, George Hill Hodel Sr., who died in Los Angeles sometime in the early 1950s, after our father had left for Asia. Years later, Mother described his funeral. She said she was amazed that so many strangers and people she did not know had come to pay their last respects. “It was as if a movie star or some celebrity had died, except he was not a celebrity.” She hadn’t known any of these people nor why they had come.

  Exhibit 4
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  George Hodel Sr.

  When I turned the page again, I froze, gazing at two photographs of a very young Eurasian woman. In one she was wearing what looked like Native American clothing. These two pictures were of my ex-wife, Kiyo, taken when she was barely out of her teens, years before she met me at a Hollywood party. Mother, who had introduced me to Kiyo, had mentioned that they had known Kiyo during the war, but why would my father include her pictures here?

  Exhibit 5
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  Kiyo

  Two more women. Another Asian woman, a Filipina, also taken in her youth. The picture resembled his ex-wife, Hortensia—whom I’d met in Manila in the early ’60s. This must have been a photograph taken at an earlier time, perhaps when they lived in Hawaii, in the early 1950s.

  The facing page showed a young woman and her dog.

  Exhibit 6
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  It seemed as if time itself was out of place in this photo album. There were photos of my mother, looking exotically Eurasian in her setup for the picture, then a photo of Kiyo, who was Eurasian, dressed as a Native American. What was my ex-wife doing among these family photos? I had no idea, but I found it disturbing. And then I turned the page.

  Here were two photographs, both of a vividly beautiful dark-haired woman. She was as young and vivacious, her presence reaching out to you across the years, making you believe for a moment that you could step through the frame and be there with her. The right-hand photo was apparently a nude, artistically taken, from her shoulders up. Her eyes were closed as if in a delicate sleep, a sleep of light dreams. In the other photo she was standing next to a Chinese statue of a horse, her eyes also closed, but now she was fully clothed. How exquisite she looked, with two large white flowers in her swept-back black hair and wearing a collarless black dress. I couldn’t take my eyes off her. As if she were calling out to me from a moment in time most likely at the end of World War II. I could almost hear the music of a big band. Maybe I could ask her to dance, and she would say yes.

  I turned the open album around to June’s eyes and asked, “Who is this?” She glanced at the photograph. “I don’t know. Someone your father knew. Someone your father knew from a long time ago.” June rose from the table, hands shaking, reached for the box on the glass table, and withdrew several white tissues. She turned and walked out of the living room back toward her bedroom. “I’ll see you in the morning, Steven,” she said. “Goodnight, and thank you for being here.”

  Exhibit 7
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  I was gripping the small album as tightly as I could, not wanting to let it out of my sight. I hadn’t figured out how or why, but the album had opened a door into some strange past, almost like a parallel world that had mingled with my own. I felt like a voyeur, as if I were looking directly into another man’s heart. In these pages Father had clearly assembled those who were most dear to him. His father, my brothers, myself, two of his four wives, and Duncan, his firstborn. But who were these other women? What were my ex-wife Kiyo and this unknown woman’s photographs doing here?

  As I walked the slow mile back to my hotel through the early-morning fog that covered San Francisco, I tried to understand but could not.

  The feelings that were beginning to take shape in my mind were of an old familiar nature. I had felt them hundreds of times in the past. They were very real and very strong and they spoke to me directly. They were my intuitions, and I knew by their strength and power that they were centered in reality. I couldn’t identify what reality. But I knew I was only feeling what had already been perceived and understood by some other mind. We were in touch, maybe even across the boundary of death, linked by the photos in my father’s secret album. My mind refocused on those two posed photographs of the beautiful dark-haired young woman.

  The Sir Francis Drake Hotel loomed up over me out of the fog and darkness. What was it about those pictures? Now she was almost a remembrance. Her hair, the flowers, her dress and style from the forties—all were aspects of someone I strained to remember. But nothing came. But I felt I did know her and had seen her somewhere in the past. Where?

  As if in a dream, I walked through the empty lobby of the hotel to the elevators. I entered the waiting car as the doors closed behind me and I felt no motion and heard no sound until the bell rang for the eighteenth floor.

  I unlocked the door and a shaft of light from the hall illuminated a cobalt vase of freshly arranged white flowers on my bedside table. A sweet smell of lavender filled the room. I stared at the white flowers caught in the shaft of light, white flowers against the black of night.

  I tried to fight the meaning that was trying to break through to tell me what my father’s photographs meant. My cop’s mind grabbed onto it like a bulldog and wouldn’t let go. Were these photographs of her—the one with her stylized black dress and white flowers, and the other one nude—taken by my father? Why had he kept them all these years in his private album?

  Then, quietly, softly, as if a breeze were carrying an image from long ago, I remembered the white flowers against the jet-black hair, white flowers set off against a black dress. These were dahlias.

  And like a bouquet of flowers overpowering the confines of a narrow room, the realization suddenly filled my conscious mind: it was she, the Dahlia. The Black Dahlia.


  4

  A Voice from Beyond the Grave

  I HAD TO LEAVE San Francisco because of my upcoming testimony in court for a case that I was working on as a private investigator. There was nothing more I could do in California, because Father had been specific about how he wanted his remains to be handled, and his wishes, bizarre as they seemed, would be respected. The Neptune Society would take his ashes to sea on their next scheduled burial, and his final wish would be satisfied. All that remained of him would be dispersed, as if he thought that would erase all marks of his presence on earth.

  I said my final goodbye to June and promised her I would return within the month to help her get through what for her was a catastrophe. I had seen death visit many lives, but I’d never seen anyone so alone and lost as June.

  As I waited for Father’s regular limo driver to take me to the airport, June handed me a piece of white paper that contained a full page of Father’s handwriting. “This was written by your father about the time of his last birthday,” she said. “They are his notes to me. Last October he believed his heart was about to quit and he prepared these notes. They were for a talk he was going to have with me but never did, because his health improved. I found them in his desk. Some I understand, others I do not. You’re a good detective, maybe you can help me decipher them. It is important that I know everything he wanted to say to me.”

  I assured her I would do my best. I would review the notes and call her in a few days. Just then the driver arrived, and with a tearful sayonara I was out the door and headed home for what I hoped would be relief from the overpowering sorrow that permeated everything about June and my father’s condo.

  By being strong and supportive with June, I was also working my way through my own mixed feelings. Just as I was beginning to develop a relationship with him, my father was gone. For the second time in my life, events beyond my control had snatched him away. I felt anger and frustration at the lost opportunity, but I also believed that something had been accomplished in our awkward attempts to close the fifty-year gap in our lives.

  Back in Washington, I took a few days off, to let the impact of Father’s death and my dealings with June wash over me. I allowed myself to enjoy the solitude of my house on the lake, using the free time from appointments to prepare my case for trial. Then I turned to my father’s photo album and the materials June had given me on my final day in San Francisco.

  First on the agenda was the picture. Was it really the woman known as the Black Dahlia? I ran a quick search of the photos on the Internet and found what I was looking for almost at once. There she was, a complete digital photo album in itself, accessible by just a few keystrokes. I studied the face on the screen: high cheekbones, upturned nose, jet-black hair with its distinct hairline above the high forehead, her unusual diamond-shaped face. No question: it was she.

  Exhibit 7 (enlarged)
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  Elizabeth Short

  In the right photograph she appears to be nude, eyes closed. In the left, again eyes closed, she is wearing a collarless black dress with white flowers in her hair. Judging from the background Chinese statuary, these were most likely taken in our Franklin Avenue home.

  After this identification, I immersed myself in the history. I backgrounded myself to make sure that I was up to speed with the thousands of Black Dahlia “fans” who, I was surprised to learn, were still contributing information to the different websites. The main Dahlia website (www.bethshort.com) had been established by a writer and journalist, Ms. Pamela Hazelton. It was there that I began my research on the murder. The website provided a mixed bag of information quoting so-called Dahlia experts.

  Ms. Hazelton’s website also had photo links to the crime and various photos that had been taken by the police or newspaper photographers at the Norton Avenue site. First there was a close-up photograph depicting the victim’s body, neatly bisected, the torso placed just a foot or so to the left of and above the lower half. In other photos I could see the incisions and mutilations on both halves of the body as well as extensive lacerations to both sides of the mouth. It looked as if the killer had carved a hideous grin on her face for some reason, which only he could understand. As I clicked through the different photos, I tried to understand how a detective could have leaked or sold these photos to the public or press. But there they were: detailed shots of the brutalized, desecrated body of a twenty-two-year-old woman, on display for the world to view. I was outraged, even though I realized that these photos had been taken over fifty years ago, long before the Internet, long before digital computers, even a year before the transistor was invented.

  But my rage was short-lived, quickly overtaken by the enormity of what I had discovered in my father’s photo album. First, those two photographs of Elizabeth Short appeared to be more or less contemporary with other photos of her just prior to her disappearance and murder. In both pictures her eyes were downcast and closed. It was clear that she had agreed to be posed this way. But why had Father kept these two photographs for more than fifty-two years in an album, where Elizabeth Short held a place of honor with the rest of those he loved?

  Fragments of memory started to fit together. I remembered his overwhelming need to dominate and assert control, especially when it came to the many women in his life. He had left each of them in turn: first Emilia, then Dorothy Anthony, then my mother, whom he nicknamed “Dorero,” and then his wife in the Philippines, before he finally settled down with June. He had obviously controlled June, who now seemed completely incapable of taking care of herself.

  I knew there might be, and doubtless were, perfectly innocent answers to all of my questions. He could have known Elizabeth Short in the weeks or months before her murder and even taken the photographs of her. Maybe they had even been lovers, which Father had never revealed after she was murdered because he was afraid of becoming a suspect for a crime he didn’t commit. There were, I was sure, rational answers to all my questions, and I determined to be objective in resolving them. I could not allow my emotions to come into play.

  What would I do as a private investigator if a client came to me with a similar set of circumstances? How would I proceed? The obvious answer: handle it just like I had all of the other homicide investigations I had conducted during my career. It would require a simultaneous, two-pronged strategy: a thorough background check into all available information on the possible suspect, and a parallel check on the victim. There was a lot I didn’t know. First, what was Father’s real background? I knew generalities, but few specifics. What could I discover about his activities over fifty years ago? Who was left to tell the story? Could I find witnesses and records? What was still available?

  I needed to figure out just how much June knew about her husband. I remembered her response when I asked her who the woman was in the two pictures. “Just someone your father knew from a long time ago.” She only spoke of Father as a loving, compassionate man.

  But June surely would have known something about Father’s earlier life. He must have shared with her at least some of his experiences in their long years together. She could help me in my background search, help plot a timeline of his life. My questioning of his past would not be a form of interrogation, but would come from my sincere desire to know the man. If she sensed or suspected that I was looking for something more than that, I knew I would get nothing from her. My search must proceed slowly, with great caution.

  The second approach was to find out all I could about the real Elizabeth Short, not just the newspaper creation named the Black Dahlia. I had to track her movements through Los Angeles and California as far back as I could, to connect her to the murderer through mutual friends, relatives, or surviving witnesses. Maybe there was still some physical evidence. Maybe I could find fingerprint evidence or even come up with a DNA match.

  I began my investigation by reviewing everything that was publicly known and available, including every old newspaper article, magazine, and book. But I was at a disadvantage relative to my other homicide investigations, because I had not been at the crime scene, nor could I review the investigative notes of the officers who had. I also did not have access to the LAPD homicide file, called a “murder book,” that is started on every murder in Los Angeles. I was no longer an active detective, simply one of thousands of retired L.A. cops, so I would not benefit from any of the special privileges, free access, or any of the other door-openers that came from carrying a badge and a gun. But I also knew I had a lot going for me on this one. I had a real advantage: a hot lead in the form of two pieces of evidence that quite possibly had never surfaced in the original investigation.

  On June 2, 1999, June Hodel carried out her husband’s final instructions. Holding in her lap a green urn containing the ashes and sole worldly remains of the man she had loved for thirty years, she cried as the small ocean craft, the Naiad, powered through the fog, passing under the Golden Gate Bridge. A mile more and it was finished. Father’s ashes cast to sea, his body returned to the elements. She called me in Bellingham early that afternoon to inform me it was accomplished, just as he had instructed her, alone and without ceremony or words.

  At the same time June was scattering Father’s ashes, I was setting off to see what I could discover about his mysterious past. I was confident that if I looked long and hard enough, I would find answers to the many questions that were nagging me.

  My initial search for information about Elizabeth Short on the Internet would eventually be expanded to include personal interviews with some of Dad’s friends and acquaintances from that time, along with my own family members, some of whom I had not spoken to in many years. I would read published statements of credible witnesses who claimed to have actually seen Elizabeth Short in the week she had been presumed missing. Additional interviews with witnesses in Los Angeles would provide me with some actual physical evidence, which, I believe, relates to the crime. Eventually, I would review hundreds of archival microfilm articles from all the major newspapers of that time and request and receive FOIA material, including the complete dossier on Elizabeth Short, which included FBI interviews of 1947 witnesses and her associates.

  In order to put the case in a historical context, I read the three most relevant published books on the Dahlia case: Severed, by John Gilmore (1994), Daddy Was the Black Dahlia Killer, by Janice Knowlton and Michael Newton (1995), and Childhood Shadows, by Mary Pacios (1999). I later read James Ellroy’s The Black Dahlia, even though it is a work of fiction, because Ellroy based it on fact, using some real names. I felt it was important to review each of these authors’ theories and evidence, to determine if any of them had a real suspect.

  After carefully reviewing the contents of each book I can say with authority that none of the three nonfiction works provide any hard evidence pointing to a viable suspect. The authors’ conjectures and efforts at building circumstantial cases against their three separate suspects are exceptionally weak, devoid of any physical evidence linking them to the murder. Mary Pacios’s book was the most helpful to me as I began my investigation, because her extensive documentation of sources and references permitted me to check and recheck many of the facts I had discovered through my own investigation.

  Perhaps the most frustrating aspect of the Black Dahlia case is the many distortions of fact that have surrounded the few kernels of truth from the very beginning of the 1947 investigation.

  The LAPD’s official position on the murder of Elizabeth Short is that the case remains “open.” Though it may be a cold case—one in which there has been no activity for decades—it remains on the books and is handed off to one of the division’s newest transferees into Robbery-Homicide. As far as the public is concerned, the LAPD, after interviewing hundreds of witnesses and spending thousands of man-hours, is no closer now to identifying any suspect(s) than it was after the first few months of intensive searching, which back in 1947 involved a thousand Southern California lawmen.

  Harry Hansen remained on the investigation from January 15, 1947, until his retirement twenty-three years later. In March 1971 Hansen granted an interview, which was published in the Los Angeles Times, entitled “Farewell, My Black Dahlia,” in which he confided that over the decades he eliminated hundreds of potential suspects and false confessors by asking a “key question.” Hansen was convinced the suspect might be a male with medical training.

  
    It was a clean, definitely professional job. You have to know exactly how and where or you just can’t do it. When I asked medical authorities what kind of person could have performed that bisection, they said “someone with medical finesse.”

    The killing seemed to be based on unbelievable anger. I suppose sex was the motive, or at least the fact that the killer was denied sex.

  

  Insofar as the victim was concerned, Hansen made these surprising and professionally uncharacteristic observations:

  
    She didn’t seem to have any goals or standards . . . she never had a job all the time she lived in Los Angeles. She had an obviously low IQ, lived hand to mouth, day to day. She was a man-crazy tramp, but she wasn’t a prostitute. There were all kinds of men in her life, but we were only able to find three that had any sexual experience with her. She was a tease. She gave a bad time to quite a few guys. There wasn’t very much to like about her.

  

  Regarding his failure to solve the crime, he admitted the Black Dahlia case was his biggest disappointment:

  
    Being objective didn’t mean that we didn’t want that killer. I never wanted anything more. Every now and then there’d be some new development, a lead would pop out of nowhere and we’d think, here it is, this is it! But it never really was. Looking at it in perspective right now, the killer did his thing and got away with it. Most homicides, I think the figure is 97 percent, are solved. A very few aren’t. This is the biggest one I ever knew of. You really can’t win them all.

  

  When asked why this crime had such a tremendous impact on the public and whether that impact might have been attributed to its savagery or to the youth and beauty of the victim, Hansen said:

  
    There were crimes that same year that were at least as heinous and victims at least as pretty and none of them got anywhere near the same attention. It was that name “Black Dahlia” that set this one off . . . just those words strung together in that order turned Elizabeth Short’s murder into a coast-to-coast sensation. Black is night, mysterious, forbidding even; the dahlia is an exotic and mysterious flower. There could not have been a more intriguing title. Any other name wouldn’t have been anywhere near the same.
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